1987

Lee A. Fitzgerald and Helen Fitzgerald, his wife v.
Boyd Corbett and Keith Gurr, and Utah
Ranchlands : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This is an appeal from a final judgment entered by the Fourth Judicial District Court on the 27th of October, 1987 (Record 140-143), and jurisdiction is conferred upon this Court pursuant to Rule 3 of the Rules of the Utah Supreme Court.

NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS BELOW

Plaintiffs Fitzgerald filed a complaint (Record 1-16) for slander of title to remove two notices of interest recorded by the defendants. The defendants filed an Answer and Counterclaim (Record 31-36). The case was tried by the Court sitting without a jury on October 24, 1985. Further hearings were heard on October 24, 1986, November 6, 1986, and September 18, 1987. The trial court entered judgment (Addendum No. 1) removing the notices of interest, but did not award damages, and ordering the plaintiffs Fitzgerald to deliver deeds to real property to defendants Corbett and Gurr and to five purchasers of properties from Corbett and Gurr who were not parties to the action. The court also entered Amended Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law (Addendum 2).

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Is the Settlement Agreement of September 10, 1982, enforceable?

2. Were the provisions of the Settlement Agreement requiring Fitzgeralds to honor past sales of Corbett and Gurr barred by the doctrine of res judicata?

3. Is the Settlement Agreement of September 10, 1982, vague and ambiguous, and thus unenforceable?

4. Did the trial court err in ordering the delivery of deeds to third parties and to counterclaimants Corbett and Gurr?

5. Did the trial court err in failing to award damages for the slander of title?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is the third time that litigation between plaintiffs, Fitzgerald, and defendants, Corbett and Gurr, have come before the Supreme Court. The first two times it came before this Court, Corbett and Gurr appeared as the plaintiffs and appellants; this time, Fitzgeralds appear as plaintiffs and appellants. To avoid the confusion between the designations, this writer will refer to the parties by their surnames, "Fitzgeralds" meaning Leland A. Fitzgerald and Helen Fitzgerald, and "Corbett and Gurr" meaning Boyd Corbett and Keith Gurr.

The facts and issues in this case are interwoven with the prior litigation. Therefore, this statement of facts must of necessity provide background for the issues raised by this appeal.

Commencing in January, 1977, Fitzgeralds began acquiring property in Cedar Valley, Utah, from a variety of sellers. By February 1, 1977, the first contractual agreements were entered into between Fitzgeralds and Corbett and Gurr. A somewhat lengthy description of the business dealings between the parties is set forth in the Memorandum Decision in the first litigation (Exhibit No. 10, Addendum No. 3). Those dealings included Earnest Money Receipts and Offers to Purchase, Uniform Real Estate Contracts, and Options, several in number. The parties came into dispute over payments and amounts owed under the various agreements, and the purported exercise of the options, and in 1981, Corbett and Gurr commenced suit against the Fitzgeralds in the Fourth District Court, Civil No. 50,224. the matter was tried before Judge J. Robert Bullock, sitting without a jury. On May 4, 1982, Judge Bullock rendered a Memorandum Decision (Exhibit 10, Addendum 3).

On May 17, 1982, Corbett and Gurr filed a notice of appeal from that Memorandum Decision, in Supreme Court case No. 18529. On June 25, 1982, Judge Bullock entered Judgment on the Memorandum Decision (Exhibit 1, Addendum 4). On June 29, 1982, Corbett and Gurr filed an additional notice of appeal in Supreme Court case No. 18594.

The judgment entered by Judge Bullock awarded judgment in favor of Corbett and Gurr against Fitzgeralds in the

amount of \$4,709.96 (paragraph 1, Judgment, Addendum 4), but ruled that Corbett and Gurr had no interest in the properties described in the judgment. On September 9, 1982, Fitzgeralds gave Corbett and Gurr credit on a payment past due on a contract dated September 1, 1977, which was not part of the litigation before Judge Bullock (Exhibit 14, Addendum 5). Corbett and Gurr signed a release of that judgment on September 28, 1982 (Exhibit No. 13, Addendum No. 6).

On September 10, 1982, the parties entered into a Settlement Agreement (Exhibit No. 11, Addendum No. 11). On October 4, 1982, Corbett and Gurr made payment of \$48,720.79 and received additional credits on the contract not involved in the pending matter (Exhibits No. 21, 22, and 23, Addenda 8, 9, and 10).

On November 1, 1982, this Court, on motion of respondents for dismissal of the appeals with prejudice, granted dismissal of the appeals in both 18529 and 18594 (Exhibit No. 4, Addendum No. 11).

On November 1, 1982, Boyd Corbett, doing business as Utah Ranchlands, filed and recorded a notice of interest (Exhibit No. 2, Addendum No. 12).

November 26, 1982, a further hearing was held before Judge Bullock in the trial court (Exhibit No. 26, Addendum No. 13).

On January 6, 1983, additional hearings were held

before Judge Bullock (Exhibit No. 27, Addendum No. 14).

On April 19, 1983, Judge Bullock rendered an Order—
and Judgment (Exhibit No. 5, Addendum No. 15).

On May 17, 1983, Corbett and Gurr filed a new appeal in the matter pending before Judge Bullock (Exhibit 28, Addendum 16), from the April 19, 1983, order.

In the new appeal, Corbett and Gurr raised the issue of whether or not Fitzgeralds had made an open court offer to honor prior sales of Corbett and Gurr, which the Court specifically declined in its order and judgment of April 19, 1983 (Exhibit No. 5, Addendum No. 15).

On April 18, 1984, Corbett filed and recorded an additional notice of interest (Exhibit No. 3, Addendum No. 17). On November 1, 1985 the Supreme Court rendered a decision in that appeal (Record 59:63, Addendum 17).

On May 26, 1983, after the notice of appeal had been filed in the case pending before Judge Bullock, Fitzgeralds brought suit to remove the notice of interest and for damages for slander of title by the filing of the notice of interest by Boyd Corbett and Utah Ranchlands, a partnership of Boyd Corbett and Keith Gurr.

The appeal from the judgment rendered in that case is the matter now before this Court.

POINT I

The Trial Court Erred in Holding the Settlement Agreement Was Enforceable Because the Conditions of the Agreement Were Not Met.

After Corbett and Gurr had lost the case they brought against the Fitzgeralds, Civil No. 50,224, tried by Judge Bullock, and after they had filed their appeals in that proceeding (Supreme Court Nos. 18529 and 18594), counsel for Corbett and Gurr failed to file a brief on appeal, as required by the Rules of the Supreme Court (Record, Supreme Court cases 18529 and 18594).

That case involved a Uniform Real Estate Contract dated May 13, 1977, an Earnest Money Agreement and Option to Purchase dated February 1, 1977, and an Option dated September 7, 1977 (Exhibit No. 1, Addendum No. 4). Corbett and Gurr also had a Uniform Real Estate Contract dated September 1, 1977, with Fitzgeralds which, at that time, was still in force and effect. The September 1, 1977, Uniform Real Estate Contract was not a part of Judge Bullock's decision and the Supreme Court cases 18529 and 18594 (Record: 312:24-25 and 313:1-6, testimony of Lee A. Fitzgerald; Record: 281:7-13, testimony of Boyd Corbett).

On September 10, 1982, while the two appeals were pending in the Supreme Court, the parties entered into an agreement denominated as Settlement Agreement (Exhibit No. 11, Addendum 7). That Agreement and its enforceability is the

subject matter of this appeal.

A. Failure to pay \$49,000+ on September 10, 1982.

The next to last sentence of that Settlement Agreement provides:

This Agreement subject to payment in excess of \$49,000 on the DuPratt contract on this 10th day of September, 1982 (emphasis added).

As stated in Ephraim Theatre Company v. Hawk, 321

P.2d 221, 7 Utah 2d 163 (1958):

...the fundamental concepts in regard to contracts: that their purpose is to reduce to writing the conditions upon which the minds of the parties have met and to fix their rights and duties in respect thereto. The intent so expressed is to be found, if possible, within the four corners of the instrument itself in accordance with the ordinary accepted meaning of the words used... Generally speaking, neither of the parties, nor the court has any right to ignore or modify conditions which are clearly expressed merely because it may subject one of the parties to hardship, but they must be enforced "in accordance with the intention as *** manifested by the language used by the parties to the contract."

ID at 166.

That statement was again affirmed by the Court in Jones v. Acme Building Products, Inc., 450 P.2d 743, 22 Utah 2d 202 (1969), at page 206.

Whether the above quoted portion of the Settlement Agreement is a condition of the contract is to be taken from the fair reading of the Agreement. In Cheever v. Schramm, 577 P.2d 951 (1977), the Court said:

The intention to create a condition in a contract must appear expressly or by clear implication.

Id. at 953.

That was reiterated in Creer v. Thurman, 581 P.2d 149 (1978), where the Court said:

Whether a provision in a contract is a condition, the nonfulfillment of which excuses performance, depends upon the intent of the parties, to be ascertained from a fair and reasonable construction of the language used in light of all the circumstances when they executed the contract.

Id. at 151.

It is also supported in Porter v. Groover, 734 P.2d 464 (1987), where the Court said:

Whether a promise is conditional depends upon the parties' intent, which is derived from a fair and reasonable construction of the language used in light of all the circumstances when the parties executed the contract.

Id. at 465.

The Settlement Agreement (Exhibit No. 11, Addendum No. 7), shows that after spelling out, in three paragraphs, respective responsibilities under the Settlement Agreement, the parties said "This Agreement is subject to payment in excess of \$49,000 on the DuPratt contract on this 10th day of September, 1982. Clearly, upon the language drawn by the signers of the agreement itself, the Settlement Agreement was conditioned upon payment of the \$49,000 on that specific date.

The circumstances under which that was included on

Exhibit 11, are as follows:

Q: (to Leland Fitzgerald): What was the reason for including in Exhibit 11 the reference to the payment of the \$49,000?

A: I was in a real bad financial bind on some property and I needed money real bad and I told Mr. Corbett to try to resolve this and he come out and this is what we resolved.

(Record 317:23-25, 318:1-3)

That the condition was not met is borne out by the testimony of all of the parties to this litigation. Mr. Corbett admitted that the \$49,000 was not paid on September 10, 1982, as required by the Settlement Agreement (Record 283:19-25, 284:1-8). Corbett further agreed that the Settlement Agreement was subject to payment on that date. He was asked:

Q: And he entered into this Agreement and it specifically provided that it was subject to paying the excess of that payment in excess of \$49,000 on September 10, 1982?

A: Yes.

(Record 284:22-25, 285:1).

Mr. Gurr stated:

Q: You know for a fact that you didn't pay the \$49,000 on the 10th of September, don't you?

A: No I don't.

Q: You don't know that?

A: I don't know that. Whenever the check was made out or whenever the cashier's check

was made out, that's when it was paid and the records will show that date, and I don't know when it was.

Q: If it was paid on October 4, then that's what the record will show.

A: Sure.

(Record 314:3-13).

Exhibit No. 21 shows that the payment of the \$49,551.70 was credited by three credits given to Corbett and Gurr and a payment of \$48,720.79 on October 4, 1982. Exhibit No. 22 shows that that payment of \$48,720.79 was then paid by Mr. Fitzgerald on the indebtedness about which he testified on the DuPratt contract on October 6, 1982. Exhibit No. 23 shows the record of payment and shows that the 1982 payment on that contract was paid on October 4, 1982, 57 days late. No evidence was offered by Corbett and Gurr to dispute that the payment was paid on October 4, 1982, and not on September 10, 1982 as required by Exhibit No. 11 (Addendum No. 7).

In Bentley v. Potter, 694 P.2d 617 (1984), the Court said:

Failure of consideration exists "wherever one who has either given or promised to give some performance fails without his fault to receive in some material respect the agreed exchange for that performance."

Id. at 619.

That position on failure of consideration is quoted again in Copper State Leasing v. Blacker Appliance & Furniture, 90 U.A.R. 23, August 31, 1988, at page 25.

Fitzgeralds were not at fault in the failure of Corbett and Gurr to make that \$49,000 payment on September 10, 1982. There is a failure of consideration for that Settlement Agreement. A condition to it was that the payment of the \$49,000 owed under the September 7, 1977, contract be paid on that date, the 10th of September, 1982. The testimony was admitted by Corbett and Gurr that the payment was to be made on that date, and that payment was not made on that date. Thus there is a failure of consideration.

B. Failure to Terminate Legal Proceedings.

The Settlement Agreement (Addendum No. 7) reads:

We G. Boyd Corbett and Keith L. Gurr, doing business at Utah Ranchlands, hereby agree to settle all legal actions, lawsuits, appeals to the Supreme Court, etc., concerning Leland A. and Helen S. Fitzgerald and all their Cedar Valley property.

The factual circumstances are that they did not settle all of their lawsuits. The dismissal of the pending appeals was not occasioned by acts of Corbett and Gurr, but it was dismissed on the respondents' motion for dismissal of the appeals, with prejudice, which was granted on November 1, 1982 (Exhibit No. 4, Addendum No. 11). The Record of the Supreme Court in cases 18529 and 18594 will show that in pursuance of the Settlement Agreement, Corbett & Gurr did not initiate any dismissal of their appeals.

In addition to failing to dismiss their appeals in the underlying proceeding (Civil No. 50,224, District Court of

Utah County) presided over by Judge J. Robert Bullock, upon which judgment had been entered June 24, 1982 (Exhibit No. 1, Addendum No. 4), Corbett and Gurr continued to pursue the matter, as is demonstrated by Exhibit No. 26, a minute entry of November 26, 1982 and the minute entry, Exhibit No. 27, wherein the Court said:

The Court will also hear arguments, if any, as to whether or not the Court should, on its own initiative, amend the judgment with respect to the offer of defendants, Lee A. Fitzgerald and Helen Fitzgerald, referred to in the Court's memorandum decision of May 4, 1982.

After hearing the matter, Judge Bullock entered an Order and Judgment (Exhibit No. 5, Addendum No. 15), wherein the Court said:

1. Plaintiffs [Corbett and Gurr] allege that the Court erred in its judgment entered June 25, 1982, by failing to order defendant, Lee Fitzgerald, to perform according to his offer to honor contracts between plaintiffs and innocent purchasers of property covered under May 13, 1978 contracts.

Language in the memorandum decision entered May 4, 1982, which apparently created the ambiguity as to whether or not the Court intended to so order, was included in the decision to encourage the defendant to perform according to his unsolicited offer so as to minimize litigation and avoid further loss and damage to innocent purchasers. However, defendant's offer had no bearing whatsoever on the decision entered by the Court, the decision was not conditioned thereon, and the Court did not intend to assume responsibility for supervising defendant's performance according to the offer. The Court, therefore declines to alter its judgment on the basis that the alleged omission constituted error, oversight, or mistake.

Thereafter, Corbett and Gurr filed an appeal of that Order and Judgment (Exhibit No. 28, Addendum No. 16). They pursued then the very issues that they now pursue in this proceeding, as is demonstrated by Exhibit No. 25, their brief filed on appeal. Almost two thirds of that brief addressed the issues germane to the original judgment. Specifically, Corbett and Gurr addressed, at page 21 of their brief, the issue of the so-called agreement to honor their prior contracts with third parties, which is carried forward on pages 22 and 23 of the brief. Attached to it was the very Settlement Agreement at issue in this proceeding. That appeal culminated in the decision of this Court, in Corbett v. Fitzgerald, 709 P.2d 384 (1985) (Addendum No. 18).

The trial court in this case should have ruled that there was a failure of consideration when Corbett and Gurr breached conditions of the Settlement Agreement by failing to settle their legal actions, lawsuits, and appeals but continued to pursue them thereafter. As stated in VanDyke v. Mountain Coin Mach. Distrib., Court of Appeals of Utah, August 3, 1988, 758 P.2d 962 (1988),

Thus, Mountain Coin proceeded with the lawsuit despite consummation of the parties' agreement resolving the lawsuit.

Id. at 964.

The Court of Appeals held that the trial court in that proceeding did not err in directing a verdict that Moun-

tain Coin had breached the settlement agreement.

In the case now at bar, the trial court erred in not ruling that Corbett and Gurr had breached the Settlement Agreement by continuing their litigation.

By the time of the final ruling in this matter, the Supreme Court had ruled in 1985 in the former matter. The Court's ruling was submitted as a supplement to the record (Record, pages 59-63).

The trial court should have ruled that Corbett and Gurr had breached the Settlement Agreement by continuing their litigation, and that this barred any further rights to claim benefits under the Settlement Agreement.

C. Failure to make payment on tender of \$11,000 payment.

The defendants breached the Settlement Agreement by failing to make payment or tender of payment of the \$11,000 required by paragraph 3 of the Settlement Agreement (Addendum No. 7). Mr. Gurr was asked about that payment. The Agreement called for \$11,000 paid in three annual installments of \$3,667 plus interest at seven percent, commencing February 1, 1983. Mr. Gurr was asked:

Q: If I understand you correctly, with regard to the \$11,000, you never took the \$3,667 to him plus the interest on those payments as those payments became due.

A: No, but we talked about it.

...

Q: You never did tender the \$11,000 in by handing him a check for the \$11,000?

A: No, because he never did proceed to honor these contracts like he agreed to do.

(Record 313:7-11, 15-18)

In answer to a question by the Court about the \$11,000, Mr. Corbett said:

Thank you, your Honor. So basically the answer to your question, the \$11,000, we never did offer payment. I never did. Now my partner Keith Gurr could have. I did not.

(Record, 265:15-18)

Mr. Fitzgerald corroborated their testimony when he was asked:

Q: My question was, did anyone ever tender any payment of the \$3,667 that was to paid on February 1 of the following year?

A: No.

Q: Did they ever pay anything on the contract?

A: No.

Q: Did they ever offer to pay anything on the agreement?

A: No.

(Record 325:5-14)

Under the Settlement Agreement, Corbett and Gurr were to have paid \$11,000 commencing February 1, 1983, in three annual installments of \$3,667. For that, they were to receive 320 acres to be deeded to them as received by Fitzgerald from

the persons from whom he was purchasing the same property.

Nowhere in the Record did Corbett and Gurr ever produce evidence that they had made an offer to pay the sum owed under the Settlement Agreement. If they had made an offer in writing of a particular sum, delivered to Fitzgerald, it would be equivalent to the actual production or tender of money. But both have testified that they did not make any such tender of payment. 70A-2-511, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, pertaining to tender of payment under the Commercial Code, provides, in part, that unless agreed otherwise, a tender of payment is a condition to the seller's duty to tender and complete any delivery.

As stated in Zion's Properties, Inc. v. Holt, 538 P.2d 1319 (1975),

A tender requires that there be a bona fide, unconditional, offer of payment of the amount of money due, coupled with an actual production of the money or its equivalent (emphasis added).

The Court went on to say:

But there was no actual tender of the amounts due under the contract within the foregoing definition...

Unless there is some showing of legal excuse or justification for failure to perform the obligations of a contract, it must be enforced according to its terms.

Id. at 1322.

That statement has not been changed, and was reaffirmed in LHIW, Ind., v. DeLorean, 753 P.2d 961 (1988).

D. Consideration for the settlement agreement.

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