1987

Lee A. Fitzgerald and Helen Fitzgerald, his wife v. Boyd Corbett and Keith Gurr : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT I

THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT OF SEPTEMBER 10, 1982 IS ENFORCEABLE

A. The Settlement Agreement was executed by all parties.

B. Corbett and Gurr dismissed the appeals, satisfied the \$4,700 judgment and paid the \$49,000 consideration to Fitzgeralds.

C. Gurr has offered and is still willing and able to pay the \$11,000 for the 320 acres.

D. Fitzgeralds acknowledged the dismissals of the appeals and receipt of the \$49,000 payment.

E. All parties understood the terms of honoring the contracts to third-party purchasers.

POINT II

THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT IS NOT BARRED BY RES JUDICATA AND/OR CLAIM PRECLUSION

A. The issues in 50224 did not include the September 10, 1982 Agreement since the Agreement did not come into existence until after the case was concluded.

B. The open court offer by Mr. Jeffs simply defines the terms in the September 10, 1982 Agreement.

C. The September 10, 1982 Agreement was attached to the Corbett's Appellant Brief "for informational purposes only" and the issue of enforceability of the September 10, 1982 Agreement has never been addressed by any court other than Judge Ballif in this proceeding.

D. The elements for claim preclusion are not present in this instance, as provided in Madsen v. Borthick, 97 U.A.R. 13 (December 12, 1988).

POINT III

FITZGERALDS FAILED TO SHOW ANY DAMAGES AS A RESULT OF THE NOTICES OF INTEREST

A. Fitzgeralds asserted the damages were attorney fees and costs incurred in the "Bell-Badger" litigation.

B. Fitzgeralds also asserted lost interest on the payment due from Bell.

C. On cross examination, Fitzgeralds admitted the Bell-Badger litigation was before the filing of any Notice.

D. Fitzgeralds settled the Bell matter and reserved the interest issue. Bell has agreed to honor his contract and has made the past due payments.

E. The litigation and the withholding of payments had nothing to do with the Notices.

POINT IV

CORBETT AND GURR ARE ENTITLED TO ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS FOR THIS APPEAL

A. Under Rule 11 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and Rule 33(a) of the Rules of the Supreme Court provide for attorney fees and costs under a frivolous appeal.

B. There is substantial, unrebutted, admissable evidence supporting the trial court's findings and judgment.

C. This appeal was perfected without "the careful consideration of the evidence and the law" as required under Backstrom Family Ltd. Partnership v. Hall, 751 P.2d 1157 (Ut. Ct. App. 1988).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY HELD THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT TO BE ENFORCEABLE

On September 10, 1982, Corbett & Gurr entered into the Settlement Agreement. Mr. Fitzgerald testified at page 287 of the record:

Q And, specifically, drawing your attention to Exhibit No. 11--I believe it's the first one right there on the corner--does that document bear your signature and the signature of your wife?

A Yes, it does, and I was present when my wife signed it.

Mr. Corbett testified at pages 259 and 260:

Q (By Mr. Brown) Mr. Corbett, was there a point in time in September of 1982 that an Agreement was entered into between you and Mr. Gurr and the Fitzgeralds?

A Yes, there was.

. . .

Q What kind of a document is that?

A It's a "SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT." It is between Lee Fitzgerald, Keith Gurr and Boyd Corbett.

Part of the consideration or performance on behalf of Corbett and Gurr required Corbett and Gurr to dismiss the Appeals, and to pay approximately \$49,000.00, plus \$3,666.00 per year for 3 years for 320 Acres. At page 264 Mr. Corbett testified:

Q In fact, Mr. Corbett, the appeal by Mr. Stubbs was dismissed on your behalf, wasn't it?

A Okay. At that time, yes. Yes. And, in fact, we dismissed our appeal to the Supreme Court. That's right.

Q And subsequent to that time, did you know of or offer to pay the \$11,000.00 as required in the Settlement Agreement?

A Yes, we did.

Again at pages 265 and 266:

Q Did you cause a Release of Judgment to be made in reliance upon the Settlement Agreement?

A We made a payment of \$49,000.00. We made that payment, yes.

. . .

Q (By Mr. Brown) Let me show you what has been marked for identification purposes, Defendants' Exhibit No. 13, sir, and ask you if you can identify that?

A That is a "RELEASE OF JUDGMENT," which we gave Lee Fitzgerald when we made our \$49,000.00 payment.

Q I show you what has been marked Exhibit No. 14, and ask you if you can identify that document, sir?

A Yes. This was tied in with that \$49,000.00 payment. The payment was actually \$54,000.00, but there was the \$47,000.00 [sic] to our credit, leaving a net balance of \$49,000.00 due on that same date. Yes.

Mr. Jeffs cross-examined Mr. Corbett at page 284 when Mr. Corbett testified as follows:

Q In fact, you paid it [the \$49,000.00 payment] on October 4th, 1982, isn't that correct?

A I don't know; I cannot say.

Q But you're not disputing that, though?

A No. As I remember, it was not paid on that day, no.

Q It was not paid on that day?

A No. But it was paid within a time to conform to the underlying contract, which it made reference to, and Mr. Fitzgerald accepted the money. (emphasis supplied)

Mr. Gurr testified at page 328:

Q (By Mr. Brown) Did you, in fact, execute that Agreement, Mr. Gurr?

A Yes. I authorized it by signing it.

Q And when did you sign it in relationship to September the 10th of 1982?

A Well, I believe it was probably the same day, because Boyd, as I recall, he dropped by and had me sign it.

Mr. Gurr testified about the payment of the \$49,000.00 and the \$11,000.00 at page 309 where he stated:

Q Now, subsequent to that time [execution of Exhibit 11], sir, did you cause to be paid the payment of approximately \$49,000.00 on the DuPratt contract?

A DuPratt contract, yes.

Q The DuPratt payment to be made?

A Yes.

Q Did you have any discussion with Mr. Fitzgerald about the \$11,000.00 for the payment of the annual installment of the thirty-six hundred and sixty-seven dollars for the three hundred and twenty acres?

A I was waiting, you know, for something to happen on this thing. I went down to Lee's place several times, and I talked to him on the phone quite a bit, and he wanted to know when I was going to pay that three-thousand-something dollars, as I recall.

Q And what did you reply?

A I said, "Lee, what I would like to do is just get the whole thing settled up and pay you off in full on it."

Q And what reply did he make to you?

A It seems like he said that he would work on it, that he was working for some contracts from Corbett.

Q Are you ready, willing and able today to make the \$11,000.00 payment?

A Yes.

The appeals were dismissed on November 1, 1982. See Exhibit 4. After the dismissal of the appeals, and receipt of the payment of \$49,000.00 on October 4, 1982 in conformance with the Settlement Agreement, Mr. Fitzgerald wrote two letters, one to Corbett and Gurr and the other to Murdocks. These letters appear as Exhibits 19 and 20. Exhibit 20, a letter dated November 19, 1982 provides in part:

Now that your appeal has been dismissed from the Supreme Court, I would like a list of all the names of those who are purchasers on contract of ground in Cedar Valley effected in this lawsuit.

At page 341, Mr. Fitzgerald testified as follows:

Q (Mr. Brown) . . . Exhibit No. 20, which is a letter that you sent to Mr. Corbett and Mr. Gurr, which you have already acknowledged signing, is that correct?

A Yes.

Q And in that letter, and I quote you saying, "Now that your appeal has been dismissed" that was obviously one of the things to be done in Exhibit Nos. 11 and 12, isn't it?

A Yes. Nothing could be done until it was dismissed. Yes.

Q All right. And then you go on and say "dismissed from the Supreme Court, I would like a list of all the names of those who are purchasers on contract of ground in Cedar Valley effected in this lawsuit." Now, you wanted to get a hold of them immediately and honor all legitimate claims, is that correct?

A Yes.

Q That was your intent?

A That was my intention.

Q Now, this, obviously, was after the payment had been received on October 4th of 1982, wasn't it?

A Yes.

Again at page 343:

Q And here on November the 19th, you said "Now that your appeal has been dismissed from the Supreme Court, I would like a list of all the names of those who are purchasers on contract of ground in Cedar Valley," correct?

A Correct.

Q And that is after you had received the so-called tardy payment, if I can use that term, of the \$49,000.00?

A That would be correct.

Q Now, at that point in time you are going to say now, I want to honor those contracts, correct?

A Yes.

Q And that is exactly, sir, is it not, what Mr. Corbett has said in Exhibit No. 2, I believe, the Notice of Interest, that says to you, and the whole world, that we want you to honor those contracts covering those lands, isn't that correct?

A Yes.

Fitzgerald in the Appellant's Brief makes an argument that the \$49,000.00 payment had to be on the 10th of September, 1982; that the time for payment was a condition precedent. However, Fitzgerald acknowledged that he wanted to honor the contracts after he received the tardy payment.

Mr. Gurr further testified at page 311:

Q Now, when you made the payment to Mr. Fitzgerald for the \$49,000.00, or thereabouts on the DuPratt contract, did he object to the receipt of that payment?

A No.

If there was a condition precedent, that condition was waived by Fitzgeralds. There was ample consideration in that the appeals were dismissed, satisfaction of the \$4,700.00 judgment and payment of \$49,000.00 on October 4, 1982. Mr. Gurr tried to pay the whole \$11,000.00 for the 320 acres.

POINT II

THE OPEN COURT OFFER WAS A KNOWN DEFINITION OF THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT PROVISION

The Settlement Agreement of September 10, 1982 provided in part:

Fitzgeralds agree to honor all Corbett and Gurr's previous sales.

Fitzgeralds argue, in the Appellant's Brief:

a. That submission of the trial transcript (Exhibit 9) is improper because the contract must contain all of the essential provisions. (Point III)

b. That the contract provision cited above is clearly ambiguous (Point IV).

Fitzgeralds admit that the Court may receive extrinsic evidence if the contract is ambiguous. Appellant's Brief provide in pertinent part:

In the case at bar, the contract was clearly ambiguous as to what it meant in the contract to "honor all Corbett and Gurr's previous sales." The Court nevertheless went on to order specific performance. The order to convey title is deficient in several respects:

A. There was no evidence that Fitzgeralds had title to the properties which were the subject matter of the sales of Corbett and Gurr, and could convey title as ordered by the Court.

B. There was an ambiguity and no explanation given as to who was to get the funds already paid to Corbett and Gurr on their previous sales, as they had done in prior contracts, as testified to by Lee Fitzgerald.

C. There was no testimony on what sales the parties were contemplating when they signed the Settlement Agreement.

D. What does "honor Corbett and Gurr's previous sales" mean?

In order to enter the judgment the trial court had to rewrite terms into that Settlement Agreement that were neither set

forth in the Agreement itself not testified to by any of the parties to the action.

The foregoing assertion is incorrect. The parties testified as follows:

Mr. Fitzgerald at pages 341-342:

Q . . . Exhibit No. 20, which is a letter that you sent to Mr. Corbett and Mr. Gurr, which you have already acknowledged signing, is that correct?

A Yes.

Q And in that letter, and I quote you saying, "Now that your appeal has been dismissed" that was obviously one of the things to be done in Exhibit Nos. 11 and 12, isn't it?

A Yes. Nothing could be done until it was dismissed. Yes.

Q All right. And then you go on and say "dismissed from the Supreme Court, I would like a list of all the names of those who are purchasers on contract of ground in Cedar Valley effected in this lawsuit." Now, you wanted to get a hold of them immediately and honor all legitimate claims, is that correct?

A Yes.

Q That was your intent?

A That was my intention.

Q Now, this, obviously, was after the payment had been received on October 4th of 1982, wasn't it?

A Yes.

Q And at that point in time you told Mr. Corbett and Mr. Gurr, "I want to go forward and I want to honor every contract that is legitimate." Isn't that what you have said?

A Not only legitimate, it had to be a previous contract, previous to the lawsuit, and it had to be an innocent bona fide purchaser.

Mr. Corbett at page 251, in answer to the terms of the Settlement Agreement, stated:

A Yes. Mr. Jeffs, on behalf of Mr. Fitzgerald, stated in open court that if Judge Bullock would rule in their favor, that they had somewhere around 27,000 acres of land, and that they did not want any innocent buyers to be hurt because of any decision Judge Bullock might render. And that this 27,000 acres was available to give to these innocent third party buyers. And this was given without any conditions, whatsoever. And this offer was made regardless of the amount paid. If they paid for it all, Mr. Jeffs said that they would get their land, regardless of the amount paid.

All parties knew of the open court offer which is contained in Exhibit 9, which provides:

Mr. Fitzgerald and Mrs. Fitzgerald had owned and purchased in excess of 27,000 acres in Cedar Valley for eventual development and sale. This lawsuit and the publicity surrounding it has been damaging to that sales effort, that development effort. We, Mr. and Mrs. Fitzgerald, do not want the persons who have bought from Corbett and Gurr to be hurt. And so we are suggesting to the Court that an equitable verdict on termination would be if the Court would terminate Corbett and Gurr out and enter as a part of that termination order that Lee and Helen Fitzgerald honor all of the

contracts that Corbett and Gurr have entered into with innocent bona fide purchasers of property under that contract. And they will do so and they are willing to do it for the remaining unpaid balance. If the persons have paid it all and not got their title, he'll just give them their title for nothing. If they've paid all but the last payment, he will take the last payment and give them their title. So that no persons will be hurt as a result of the terminating of the Corbett and Gurr contract. They will all be honored, if they are bona fide purchasers. I'm not talking about contractors that like the price, I'm talking about bona fide purchasers of land who would be purchasers.

If the Court goes the other way and enforces it, then you've got all of the contracts that Fitzgerald has entered into, and those people are going to get hurt. But we think that the equitable remedy would be to honor those contracts, give the people the land that they bought for whatever is the remaining balance under the contract, and we are suggesting that the Court enter such an order as an equitable part of the termination of the Corbett and Gurr May contract. (emphasis supplied)

In Barker v. Francis, 741 P.2d 548 (Utah 1987) the Court of Appeals stated at page 551:

It is not necessary, however, that the contract itself contain all the particulars of the agreement. The crucial factor is that the parties agreed on the essential elements of the contract.

The receipt of Exhibit 9 was not to "make a new contract for the parties" but to interpret the contract, as the parties clearly understood the existing terms to mean. The term

"Fitzgeralds agree to honor all Corbett and Gurr's previous sales" means exactly what all parties testified to and as expressly stated by Fitzgerald's counsel in Exhibit 9.

The testimony is unrebutted as to the five contracts of purchasers under Corbett and Gurr. They consist of:

- a. James D. and Judy R. Alvey (Exhibit 15)
- b. James E. Pratt (Exhibit 16 and 16A)
- c. Vern H. Bolinder (Exhibit 17)
- d. Dale E. Beus (Exhibit 24)
- e. Lynn N. Murdock and Nina S. Murdock (Exhibit 30).

Fitzgeralds are entitled to the remaining payments on the Alvey contract of \$17,279.91 as of September 10, 1982, together with interest. All other purchasers had paid in full the consideration for their purchases before September 10, 1982.

Finally, For the first time, Fitzgeralds raise the issue on appeal that there was no evidence that Fitzgeralds had title to the ground. First, that's a "new" defense and cannot be raised on appeal for the first time. See Wheeler v. Mann, 763 P.2d 758 (Utah 6-30-88), 86 Utah Adv. Rep. 3:

Hence, defendant's claim is not properly before this Court since it may not be raised for the first time on appeal. Franklin Fin. v. New Empire Dev. Co., 659 P.2d 1040, 1045 (Utah 1983). We, therefore, decline to consider the argument.

Second, the defense of impossibility is an affirmative defense which must be plead or is otherwise waived under Rule 12(h) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. That Rule provides in pertinent part:

A party waives all defenses and objections which he does not present either by motion as herein before provided or, if he has made no motion, in his answer or reply . . .

The Reply to the Counterclaim is conspicuous by its absence of any affirmative defenses.

POINT III

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